
 
 
 
 
 
 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 
 WESTERN DIVISION       
 
 
Beverly Blount-Hill    : 
3925 Bradwood Dr.    : 
Dayton, OH 45405    : 

: Case Number: 3:04 CV 0197 
Plaintiff,    : 

: 
and      : Judge:  Walter Herbert Rice 

: 
Marcia D. Connors    : 
1713 Wesleyan Rd.    : Magistrate: 
Dayton, OH 45406    : 

: 
Plaintiff,    : 

: 
and      : 

: 
Willie A. Terrell, Jr.    : 
President, Dayton Education  : 
Association, OEA/NEA   : 
in his official capacity and individually : 
1013 N. Main St.    : 
Dayton, OH 45405    : 

: 
Plaintiff,    : 

: 
vs.      : 

: 
State of Ohio     : 
Board of Education    : 
25 S. Front St.    : 
Columbus, OH 43215-4183  : 

: 
Defendant,    : 

: 
and      : 
      : 
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State of Ohio     : 
Ohio Department of Education  : 
25 S. Front St.    : 
Columbus, OH 43215-4183  : 

: 
Defendant,    : 

: 
and      : 

:   
Susan Tave Zelman    : 
Superintendent of Public Instruction : 
in her official capacity   : 
25 S. Front St.    : 
Columbus, OH 43215-4183  : 

: 
Defendant.    : 
 
 

 
_____________________________________________________________________  
 
 SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

 INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a lawsuit for declaratory and injunctive relief in which plaintiffs challenge the 

constitutionality of Ohio Revised Code, Chapter 3314, the Ohio Community Schools 

Act (AAct@).   

2. The funding provision of the Act, as adopted in R.C. ' 3314.08, and as 

implemented by defendants, violates the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983, 

because the Act treats similarly situated students (traditional school district students 

and community school students) in an unequal and unconstitutional manner. 
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3. The funding scheme contained within the Act also violates the Equal Protection 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, in 

contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983, because it causes all students remaining in a 

traditional public school district in which community schools are operating to 

increase their reliance and/or dependence upon local property taxes to support 

their public education. 

4. Further, the Act violates the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 

1983, through its implementation by defendants in two additional and separate 

ways: 

 (A). The principally minority students who remain in a traditional school district, 

as a group, are discriminated against for no valid governmental purpose 

when compared to the group of minority students attending community 

schools operating in the same traditional school district.  The group of 

community school students receive enhanced state funding, while the 

group of minority students remaining in the traditional school district 

receive diminished state funding. 

 (B). The legislative scheme of the Act is intentionally skewed toward 

defendants= creating community schools in school districts whose students 

are predominantly African American or other minorities.   Minority students  

  who remain in traditional public school districts where the defendants have  
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  created these community schools receive less state funding.  These 

principally minority students, as a group, are discriminated against for no 

valid governmental purpose when compared to the group of non-minority 

students attending traditional public schools in districts that are precluded, 

under the terms of the Act, from having community schools established in 

their school district. 

5. In addition, the Act itself, and through its implementation by defendants, violates 

the procedural Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983, because it denies 

traditional public school students and their parents of notice and hearing prior to 

diverting state funds for their traditional public education, in which these students 

have a valid and recognized property interest.   

6. Finally, the Act itself, and through its implementation by defendants, is in violation 

of the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983, as it denies citizens of their 

right to vote and determine the number or members and the organization of a 

public school board of education, embraced in whole or in part within a city, as 

guaranteed by the Ohio Constitution. 
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 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

7.        This Court has jurisdiction over this lawsuit pursuant to 28 U.S. C. '' 1331, 1343, 

and 2201.  

8. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. ' 1391(b).  

 

 PARTIES 

 

9. Plaintiff Beverly Blount-Hill is a citizen of Ohio and a resident of the City of 

Dayton.  Plaintiff Blount-Hill is the mother of three children: Kwan Blount-Hill, age 

18, Toré Blount-Hill, age 14, and Zavan Blount-Hill, age 11.  Plaintiff’s oldest 

child, Kwan, graduated in June, 2004 from Meadowdale High School, a 

traditional public school located in the Dayton City School District.  Plaintiff=s 

child, Zavan, attends a traditional public school owned and operated by the 

Board of Education, Dayton City School District.  Plaintiff=s other child, Toré, 

attended a community school called Dayton View Academy during the 2003-

2004 school year.  Plaintiff enrolled Toré in a traditional public school for the 

2004-05 school year.  Plaintiff Blount-Hill brings this action on behalf of herself 

and her children.  Plaintiff and her children have been harmed by the conduct 

alleged herein.  Additionally, Plaintiff Blount-Hill is a taxpayer in the State of Ohio,  

has an interest in this proceeding, and an interest in the enforcement of the  
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Constitution with respect to actions taken by defendant State Board of Education, 

by defendant State Department of Education, and by defendant Zelman under 

color of state law.    

10. Plaintiff Marcia D. Connors is a citizen of Ohio and a resident of the City of 

Dayton.  Plaintiff Connors is the mother of two children: Taleia Connors, age 18, 

and Tierra Connors, age 17.  Taleia graduated, in June, 2004, from Colonel 

White High School, a traditional public school located in the Dayton City School 

District.  Plaintiff=s other child, Tierra, attends a traditional public school owned 

and operated by the Board of Education, Dayton City School District.  Plaintiff 

Connors brings this action on behalf of herself and her children.   Plaintiff and her 

children have been harmed by the conduct alleged herein.  Plaintiff Connors is a 

taxpayer in the State of Ohio, has an interest in this proceeding, and an interest 

in the enforcement of the Constitution with respect to actions taken by defendant 

State Board of Education, by defendant State Department of Education, and by 

defendant Zelman under color of state law.   

11. Plaintiff Willie A. Terrell, Jr.  is a citizen of Ohio, a resident of the City of Dayton, 

and the duly elected President of the Dayton Education Association (DEA), 

OEA/NEA.  He brings this action on his own behalf, in his capacity as President 

of DEA, and on behalf of DEA and its members.  Additionally, Plaintiff Terrell is a 

taxpayer in the State of Ohio, has an interest in this proceeding, and an interest  
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in the enforcement of the Constitution with respect to actions taken by defendant 

State Board of Education, by defendant State Department of Education, and by 

defendant Zelman under color of state law.   Plaintiff Terrell and DEA members  

are taxpayers and have an interest in this proceeding, and an interest in the 

enforcement of the Constitution with respect to actions taken by defendant State 

Board of Education, by defendant State Department of Education, and by 

defendant Zelman under color of state law. 

12. Defendant State of Ohio, Board of Education (AState Board@) is established by 

Section 4, Article VI of the Ohio Constitution.  The State Board’s general powers 

are set forth by Chapter 3301 of the Ohio Revised Code, including specific 

powers enumerated in R.C. 3301.07.  In addition, the State Board has such 

additional powers as provided by statutes enacted by the Ohio General 

Assembly.  

13.    Defendant State Board is required to act in accord with the United States and 

Ohio Constitutions, as well as the laws of the State of Ohio.   

14.   The Ohio Community School Law, R.C. Chapter 3314, was enacted by the Ohio 

General Assembly through Am. Sub. House Bill 215 (122nd G.A.), effective June 

30, 1997.  The State Board was first authorized to sponsor community schools by 

Am. Sub. Senate Bill 55 (122nd G.A.), effective November 21, 1997.   

15.  Under the provisions of Section 6 of Am. Sub. House Bill 364 (125th G.A.), 

effective April 8, 2003, the State Board was permitted to continue sponsoring any  
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community school with which it had a contract on the effective date of the statute 

until the earlier of the expiration of two school years or until such community 

school obtained a new sponsor.   

16.  R.C. 3301.07 provides that the State Board “shall exercise under the acts of the 

general assembly supervision of the system of public education in the state.” 

17. Defendant State of Ohio, Ohio Department of Education (ADepartment of 

Education” or “ODE@) is “the administrative unit and organization through which 

the policies, directives, and powers of the State Board of education and the 

duties of the superintendent of public instruction are administered by such 

superintendent as executive officer of the board.”  R.C. 3301.13.   

18.  Defendant ODE is now responsible for the oversight of sponsors of the 

community schools established under R.C. Chapter 3314. 

19. Defendant Susan Tave Zelman is the State Superintendent of Public Instruction.  

20.  Under R.C. 3301.11, the State Superintendent of Public Instruction is the 

“executive and administrative officer of the state board of education in its 

administration of all educational matters and functions placed under its 

management and control.”  As the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, 

Defendant Zelman executes, “under the direction of the state board of education, 

the educational policies, orders, directives, and administrative functions of the 

board and shall direct, under rules and regulations adopted by the board, the 

work of all persons employed in the state department of education.” Defendant 

Zelman also has such other duties as are defined by statute. 
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21.  Defendant Zelman is sued in her official capacity.  In exercising her 

responsibilities, Zelman acts under color of state law. 

 

 FACTS 

A. Background: 

22. In Am. Sub. H.B. 215, effective June 30, 1997, the Ohio General Assembly first 

established community schools as a “pilot” program in Lucas County, Ohio.  

Ohio’s community schools are otherwise known as Acharter schools@ in other 

states. The Ohio Community Schools Act is codified in R.C. Chapter 3314. 

23. Under the pilot program, “start-up” schools that are newly created were limited to 

twenty, and had to have a majority of their territory in Lucas County, Ohio.    

24. According to R.C. 3314.01(B), a Community schools is “a public school, 

independent of any school district, and is part of the state’s program of 

education.”  

25.  For ease of reference, community schools are referred to hereinafter as either 

“community schools” or Anon-traditional schools.@  Public schools which are not 

community schools are referred to hereinafter as Atraditional public schools.@ 

26. Under the Act, a conversion school must be approved and sponsored by the 

board of education of the city, local, or exempted village school district in which 

the conversion school is proposed to be created.  A start-up community school 

may be sponsored by any of the entities enumerated by R.C. 3314.02(C)(1)(a) – 

(f).  

Case 3:04-cv-00197-WHR     Document 10-1     Filed 10/06/2004     Page 9 of 35




 

 10

27. Previously, until the passage of H.B. 364, effective April 8, 2003, the only entities 

authorized to sponsor start-up community schools were the State Board, the 

Lucas County Educational Service Center (LCESC), the University of Toledo, 

and the boards of education of any city, local, exempted village, or joint 

vocational school district in which the major portion of the board’s territory is in a 

“challenged school district.”  

28.  Am. Sub Senate Bill 55 ( 122nd G.A.), which was passed in August of 1997, 

effective November 21, 1997, expanded the ability to create a start-up 

community school to any of the Big Eight school districts other than Toledo, 

which was already part of the pilot project area.   

29. In 1999, through the passage of H.B. 282, the Lucas County pilot project was 

eliminated and incorporated into R.C. Chapter 3314.  H.B. 282 expanded the 

area in which start-up community schools could be created to include all of the 

twenty-one (21) large urban school districts, as well as any district determined to 

be in “academic emergency.”  

30. Thus, after the passage of H.B. 282, start-up community schools were allowed in 

the area of the former Lucas County Pilot Project area and in all Achallenged 

school districts@ which the legislature defined as any of the Big 8 school districts, 

any urban district, or a district that was in academic emergency. 

31. Ohio=s Big 8 school districts include:  Cleveland, Cincinnati, Youngstown, Dayton, 

Columbus, Toledo, Akron and Canton. 
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32. According to the Ohio Attorney General and the State Board, Ohio currently has 

21 urban districts which include: Akron, Canton, Cincinnati, Cleveland, Cleveland 

Heights-University Heights, Columbus, Dayton, East Cleveland, Elyria, Euclid, 

Hamilton, Lima, Lorain, Mansfield, Middletown, Parma, South Western, 

Springfield, Toledo, Warren, and Youngstown. 

33. R.C. ' 3302.03 indicates that a school district or building shall be declared to be 

in a state of academic emergency if it does not make adequate yearly progress, 

does not meet at least thirty-one percent (31%) of the applicable state 

performance indicators, or has a certain performance index score. 

34. H.B. 364, effective April 8, 2003, amended R.C. 3313.02(A)(3)(b) and expanded 

the definition of Achallenged school districts@ to include not only a school district 

that is in academic emergency, but also a school district that is declared to be in 

a state of academic watch.  

35. R. C. ' 3302.03 defines academic watch as a school district or building that does 

not make adequate yearly progress and either meets at least thirty-one percent  

 (31%) but less than fifty percent (50%) of the applicable state performance 

 indicators or has a performance index score established by the Department of 

Education. 

36. In the first year of the implementation of R.C. Chapter 3314, the 1998-1999 

school year, fifteen (15) community schools were operating in the State of Ohio.  
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37. Of those original fifteen (15) schools, all were Astart-up@ schools, ten (10) of 

which were sponsored by the State Board and five (5) of which were sponsored 

by the Lucas County Educational Service Center. 

38. Of the original ten (10) community schools sponsored by the State Board, all ten 

(10) were located in one of the Big 8 school districts. 

39. Likewise, all of the community schools sponsored by the LCESC were also 

located in one of the Big 8 or urban school districts. 

40. During the 1999-2000 school year, forty-six (46) community schools operated for 

the entire school year.  At that time, the State Board sponsored thirty-four (34) of 

the community schools.   

41. All of the community schools sponsored by the State Board and operating during 

the 1999-2000 school year were located in one of the Big 8 school districts.   

42. Ninety-two (92) community schools were sponsored, and seventy (70) were 

operating, during the 2000-2001 school year.   

43. During the 2000-2001 school year, the State Board sponsored a total of fifty-five 

(55) of the seventy (70) operating community schools.   

44.  During the 2000-2001 school year, all of the State Board sponsored schools 

were located either in one of the Big 8 or urban school districts. 

45.  During the 2000-01 school year, forty-nine (49) of the fifty-five (55) State Board 

sponsored schools were located in one of the Big 8 school districts. 

46.  The remaining six (6) State Board sponsored schools operating during the 2000-

2001 school year were located in an urban district.    
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47. During the 2001-2002 school year, twenty-eight (28) new community schools 

began operating, but five community schools closed or suspended operations.  

Thus, a total of 92 community schools operated during the 2001-2002 school 

year.  All of the State Board sponsored schools were located in one of the Big 8 

or urban districts. 

48. As of the 2002-2003 school year, the State Board had sponsored one hundred 

and two (102) community schools, all of which are located in one of the Big 8 or 

urban districts.   

 B. Funding: 

49. The Ohio Constitution requires the General Assembly to fund public education at 

a level necessary to provide a thorough and efficient system of public education.    

50.  Specifically, Article VI, Section 2, of the Ohio Constitution reads as follows:  

The General Assembly shall make such provisions,  
by taxation, or otherwise, as, with the income arising  
from the school trust fund, will secure a thorough and  
efficient system of common schools throughout the  
State;  

51.  For purposes of state Formula Aid, the Formula ADM (Average Daily  

 Membership) of the school district is determined.  See document attached hereto 

and marked as Exhibit A, incorporated herein by reference, and titled “Ohio’s 

School Foundation Funding Program.  The Form SF-3 – Line by Line” 

(hereinafter “SF-3 explanation”), at page 5.   

52. The ADM “reflects the state’s assessment of the number of students in a district 

for purposes of Formula Aid.”  SF-3 explanation at page 5.   

 

Case 3:04-cv-00197-WHR     Document 10-1     Filed 10/06/2004     Page 13 of 35




 

 14

53. Community School students are included in the district’s Formula ADM.  SF-3  

 explanation at pg. 5.  (“Students educated in another district are counted in their  

resident district with money being transferred from the resident district to the 

educating district.”). 

54. The “Base Formula Amount” is what the Legislature has determined to be the 

base cost of an adequate education per pupil.  R.C. § 3317.012. 

55.  The Base Formula Amount of funding each school district is multiplied by a Acost 

of doing business factor” assigned for each county. R.C. § 3317.012(N).   

56. For illustration purposes and ease of reference, the figure arrived at after the cost 

of doing business factor is multiplied by the base formula amount will be referred 

to as the “Adjusted Base Formula Amount.”   

57. The Adjusted Base Formula Amount is then multiplied by the Formula ADM.  

This resulting figure, referred to in the SF-3 explanation report as the basic 

program cost to determine state formula aid, “reflects the state’s view of what the 

total base budget or basic program cost of a district should be.”   SF-3 

explanation, at page 6.   

58. The “Adjusted Recognized Valuation” multiplied by .023 “reflects the local share 

of the basic program cost.  The ‘.023’ is the 23 mill charge-off that the legislature 

has determined to be the district’s fair share of the basic program cost.”  SF-3 

explanation at pg. 6. 

59. This “fair share” amount, also known as the local contribution, is then subtracted 

from the basic program cost.    
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60. The resulting amount is the “Total Formula Aid,” which “reflects the state’s share 

of the basic program cost.” SF-3 explanation, at page 7. 

61. The funding formula contained in the Act awards a community school the entire 

“adjusted base formula amount” for each student attending the community 

school, as well as DPIA funds and additional state funds for special education 

students. 

62.      In other words, there is no deduction for local contribution from the amount of   

           state funds the State diverts from the traditional public school district to a       

           community school. 

63. However, the traditional public school districts get the amount of state Total 

Formula Aid funds it receives from the state reduced by the amount of the 

required local contribution. 

64. The SF-3 report, available on the Ohio Department of Education’s website, 

details the state funding for all school districts in Ohio. 

65. The SF-3 report does not break funding down into a per-pupil basis, but instead, 

provides funding figures based on an aggregate basis. 

66. The SF-3 Report for the Dayton City School District (FY2004 Final SF3 Version 2 

EMIS Data 04/20/04), incorporated by reference, is attached hereto and marked 

as Exhibit B.  This report is hereinafter referred to as Dayton’s SF-3 Report. 

67.  Dayton’s SF-3 report provides the following numbers for the 2003-2004 school  
 

 Year: 
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                   Line on  
        Dayton District       SF-3 Report 

     
 Formula ADM enrollment        22,718.83  3 
 
 Formula Foundation Amount per-pupil       5,058.00  5A 
 
 Cost of doing business factor for            1.0453  5A 
 Montgomery Co.     
 
 “Adjusted Base Formula Amount”         5,287.12  Not stated on 
 ($5,058.00 x 1.0453)       SF-3 Report 
 
 Basic Program Cost           120,117,348.59  5A 

($5,058.00 X 1.0453 X 22,718.83) 
 
 Adjusted Recognized Valuation X .023          45,728,900.98  5B 

(Local tax contribution) 
    
 Total Formula Aid (after local contribution         74,388,447.61 6 
 is deducted). 
 
 Total Transfer to Community school  36,078,808.60 23C 
 
 Total Formula Aid transferred to   28,463,726.19 page 27-28.1  
 Community Schools. 
 
 Formula Aid remaining for use by the  45,924,721.42 Not listed on 
 Traditional Public School District after     SF-3 Report 
 Formula Aid has been transferred to 
 Community Schools. 
  

68. The number of community school students for state Formula Aid calculation 

purposes is 5,383.59, (Total G1-12: 5,098.67 +  ½ of Total KDG students 

 (569.84 ÷ 2) 284.92 = 5,383.59.  See pages 27-28 of Dayton’s SF-3 Report. 

 

                                                 
1 A separate copy of pages 27-28 are attached hereto and marked as Exhibit C for easy reference. 
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69. The Community School Total Formula Amount listed on page 78 of Dayton’s SF-

3 report was obtained by multiplying $5,058.00 by 1.0453 by 5383.59, which 

equals $28,463,726.19 

70. After the Total Formula Aid ($28,463,726.19) diverted to community schools is 

divided by 5,383.59, it is determined that the amount of state Formula Aid that 

the state provides per community school student is $5,287.12. 

71. As is apparent from the above, $5,287.12, is the adjusted base formula amount, 

or in other words, the amount the state would provide in Formula Aid if there was 

no required local contribution. 

72. Of course, traditional public school districts are required to contribute local tax 

dollars and the local contribution is subtracted from the Basic Program Cost.  

73.  To determine the actual amount of state Formula Aid provided by the state to 

educate the traditional public school district students, the remaining state 

Formula Aid, $45,924,721.42, is divided by the Formula ADM minus community 

school students, which in this case, equals 22,718.83 minus 5,383.59 for a total 

of 17,335.24 students. 

 74. The remaining state Formula Aid, $45,924,721.42, is divided by 17,335.24, which 

equals $2,649.21. 

75. Thus, during the 2003-2004 school year, the state provided $5,2871.12 in state 

Formula Aid for each community school student, and only $2,649.21 in state 

Formula Aid for each traditional public school district student. 
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76. In other words, during the 2003-2004 school year, the state provided $2,637.91  

more in state formula aid for each community school student attending a 

community school located within the Dayton City School District than it paid for 

each student attending a traditional school located in the Dayton City School 

District. 

77. The following example, reflecting the Dayton City School District, calculates the 

23 mills local contribution on a per-pupil basis to further illustrate how traditional 

public school district students and community school students are funded by the 

state under the Act at different amounts: 

(Based upon SF-3 Report for FY 2004 Final Version 2 EMIS Data 04/20/2004 - 
Dayton City School District)  

 
State=s base formula/Formula Foundation   = $5,058.00 
Amount per-pupil 
 
Multiplied by 

Cost of doing business factor (for Montgomery Co.) 1.0453 = $5,287.12 
(referred to as:  adjusted base formula amount.)   

 
Subtract 

 
Local funds Acharge-off amount@ (23 mills)   = $2,637.91 
calculated on a per-pupil basis 
(45,728,900.98 ÷ 17,395.24) 

    
Equals 
 
Adjusted Base formula Amount minus      = $2,649.21 
Local contribution.  In other words, the  
amount the state will fund the traditional   

  public school district toward the formula 
  cost expense for each student attending  
  a school located in the Dayton City School District. 
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 78. Thus, in the example outlined above, $5,287.12, the adjusted base formula 

amount, is paid to a community school for each student attending the community 

school. 

79.   However, based upon the above example, the state only paid the traditional 

public school district $2,649.21 per student in Formula funds. 

80. Recent figures available from the Department of Education indicate that 

community schools, on average, will receive $6,131 per student in state formula 

aid funds for the 2003-2004 school year while traditional public school districts, 

on average, will receive only $3,092 per student in state formula aid funds. 

81. The Legislative Office of Education Oversight, on page iii of the summary of its 

report dated March, 2004, and titled “Funding for Charter Schools,” confirms that 

“In states where charter schools do not receive local tax dollars, the state 

contribution is higher.”  (emphasis theirs). 

 

   C.  Minority statistics: 

82. During the 2002-20032 school year, 78.4% of all students attending Ohio=s public 

schools were white, while 21.6% were minorities.   

83. Despite the fact that as a total, Ohio=s public schools are attended by a majority 

of white children, during the 2003-2004 school year, all of the Big 8 school 

districts, except one, were attended by a disproportionate amount of minority 

students.    

 

                                                 
2 Plaintiffs were unable to locate these statistics on the ODE website for the 2003-2004 school year. 
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84.      During the 2003-2004 school year, the Aracial breakdowns@ for the Big 8 districts  

           were as follows: 

 District   County       % minority % white 

 Cleveland   Cuyahoga  82.3     17.7 

Cincinnati   Hamilton  76.2  23.8 

Youngstown   Mahoning  75.9  24.1 

Dayton   Montgomery      74.3     25.7 

Columbus   Franklin  68.5  31.5 

Toledo   Lucas      56.6    43.4 

Akron    Summit  54.1  45.9 

 Canton   Stark             44.1               55.9 

85. During the 2003-2004 school year, the racial breakdowns of all of Ohio=s urban 

districts were as follows: 

District   County       % minority % white 

Akron    Summit  54.1  45.9 

Canton   Stark   44.1  55.9 

Cincinnati   Hamilton  76.2  23.8 

Cleveland   Cuyahoga  82.3     17.7 

Cleveland Heights-  Cuyahoga  81.5  18.5 
University Heights 

Columbus   Franklin  68.5  31.5 

Dayton   Montgomery      74.3     25.7 

East Cleveland  Cuyahoga  99.7     .3 

 
 20
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 Elyria    Lorain   31.5  68.5 

 Euclid    Cuyahoga  69.5  30.5 

 Hamilton   Butler   17.6  82.4 

 Lima    Allen   52.0  48.0 

 Lorain    Lorain   63.1  36.9 

 Mansfield   Richland  40.3  59.7 

 Middletown   Butler   22.3  77.7 

 Parma    Cuyahoga    7.2  92.8 

 South Western  Franklin  19.6  80.4 

 Springfield   Clark   33.7  66.3 

 Toledo   Lucas      56.6    43.4 

 Warren   Trumbull  49.5  50.5 

 Youngstown   Mahoning  75.9  24.1 

86.  Thus, of Ohio=s 21 urban districts, twelve (12), or almost two-thirds, are   

attended by more than 50% of minority students, the majority of whom are 

African American.  These 12 districts include: Akron, Cincinnati, Cleveland, 

Cleveland Heights-University Heights, Columbus, Dayton, East Cleveland, 

Euclid, Lima, Lorain, Toledo, and Youngstown.    

87.     Further, of Ohio’s 21 urban districts, during the 2003-2004 school year, all but (3) 

          three, or 86%, were attended by a disproportionate number of minority students. 
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88.     In other words, while statewide the number of minority students attending public  

schools during the 2002-2003 school year was 21.6%, during both the 2002-

2003 and 2003-2004 school year all but three (3) of the urban districts had a 

minority population greater than 21.6% 

 

  CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 1.   First Claim 

Violation of Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,  
in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983 

 (Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process) 
 
 89. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 88 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

 90. There exists a difference of opinion as to whether public education is a 

fundamental right. 

 91. Nevertheless, it is beyond dispute that at the very least, Education is implicit in 

the concept of ordered liberty and deeply rooted in our nation=s tradition. 

 92. Plaintiffs, and all public school students in general, are guaranteed equal 

protection of the laws under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. 

 93.      The Act, through its funding scheme outlined in R.C. § 3314.08, treats traditional 

public school students in a different and unconstitutional manner when compared 

to similarly situated community school students. 
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94. Specifically, the funding mechanism contained within the Act, and as 

implemented by defendants, provides enhanced state funding to community 

school students (the adjusted base formula amount), while only providing 

severely reduced state funding (the adjusted base formula amount reduced by 

the charge-off amount) to traditional public school students. 

95.     This differential treatment inherent in the Act, and which is implemented by 

defendants, rewards community school students with generous state funds and 

punishes traditional public school students with severely reduced state funds, 

and thus, fails under strict and/or heightened scrutiny, and/or, at the very least, is 

without a rational basis.  This constitutes a violation of the Equal Protection 

clause of the Fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution, in 

contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 

 2.   Second Claim 

Violation of Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,  
in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983 

(Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process) 

 96. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 95 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference. 

 97. As a result of the reduced funding that the traditional public school students are 

forced to accept under the funding mechanism of the Act, as implemented by 

defendants, students remaining in traditional public school districts in which 

community schools are created must increase their already strained reliance on 

local property taxes to support their public education. 

Case 3:04-cv-00197-WHR     Document 10-1     Filed 10/06/2004     Page 23 of 35




 

 24

 98. As reflected in the preceding paragraphs, traditional public school districts in 

which community schools are established receive significantly less state funding 

than community schools established in that same district, and less than a 

similarly situated traditional public school district without community schools.  

This shortfall can only be made up through local property taxes. 

 99. Any funding scheme for Ohio=s public education system which increases reliance 

on local property taxes is unconstitutional.   

 100. Defendants have no rational basis, or any other basis, for implementing an Act 

that causes students who remain in a traditional public school district where 

defendants have sponsored community schools to rely on unconstitutional 

funding sources for their education, and that causes such students to suffer from 

diminished state funds. 

 101. The differential treatment inherent in the Act, which rewards community school 

students with generous state funds and which punishes traditional public school 

students from the same traditional public school district with reduced state funds, 

causing them to rely on unconstitutional funding sources, fails under strict and/or 

heightened scrutiny, and/or at the very least, is without a rational basis.  As a 

result, it violates the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 
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3.  Third Claim 

Violation of Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution,  
in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983 

(Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process based on race) 
 
 102. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 101 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference.  

 103. The Act, through the funding scheme detailed in R.C. § 3314.08, treats traditional 

public school minority students in a different and unconstitutional manner when 

compared to similarly situated community school minority students. 

 104. The funding mechanism contained within the Act, and as implemented by 

defendants, dramatically reduces state funding to minority students who remain 

in the traditional public school districts, and favors, with enhanced state funding, 

those minority students who left the same traditional public school district and 

enrolled in community schools. 

 105. Since the funding scheme contained within the Act is without any justification for 

funding traditional public school district minority students at a substantially lower 

rate than community school minority students, it violates the Equal Protection 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, in 

contravention of  42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 
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4.  Fourth Claim 
 

Violation of Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, 
 in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983 

(Equal Protection/Substantive Due Process based on race) 
 

 106. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 105 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference.  

 107. In the Community Schools Act, the legislature authorizes community schools to 

be opened in the Big 8 and all urban school districts regardless whether these 

districts are in Academic Watch or Academic Emergency. 

 108. Those traditional public school districts with community schools, especially those 

in the Big 8 and urban districts, have desperately needed state funds which have 

been diverted by operation of the Act from the traditional public school districts to 

the community schools located in the district. 

 109. Traditional public school district students who attend traditional public schools 

that are predominantly white do not have state funds diverted to community 

schools because the legislature and the State Board did not target them or 

sponsor community schools in those districts that are predominantly white.   

 110. As written, the Act creates two classes of traditional school public district 

students: 1)  those in predominantly minority traditional public school districts 

who have had state funding reduced because the state established, and the 

State Board sponsored, community schools in these districts; and 2) those in 

predominantly white traditional public school districts who have not had state 
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funding reduced because the Act does not permit state sponsored community 

schools in those districts.   

 111. The two classes of students are distinguished by race of the attending students. 

 112. Since both the Big 8 and urban school districts educate a disproportionate 

amount of minority students, it is apparent that the legislature intentionally 

discriminated based on race by its enactment of the Act, and defendants 

intentionally discriminated on the basis of race through their implementation of 

the Act. 

 113. As the State Board sponsored the vast majority of community schools in these 

minority districts, the State Board purposefully discriminated based on the basis 

of race. 

 114. If the Ohio legislature had not had any intent to discriminate against these 

minority students, the legislature could have simply indicated that community 

schools could only be opened in districts that were in Academic Watch or 

Academic Emergency. 

 115. By specifically referencing, and otherwise targeting the Big 8 and urban school 

districts for the sites of community schools, the Ohio legislature knowingly 

focused upon minority students, and purposefully discriminated against the 

minority students who remained in the traditional public schools by reducing their 

amount of state funding as compared to traditional public school students in 

districts that are predominantly white who do not have their share of state funds 

reduced. 
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 116. By sponsoring community schools almost exclusively in the Big 8 and urban 

school districts, the State Board, the Department of Education, and defendant 

Zelman knowingly and intentionally discriminated against minority students, and 

purposefully discriminated against the minority students who remained in the 

traditional public schools by reducing their amount of state funding as compared 

to traditional public school students in districts that are predominantly white who 

do not have their share of state funds reduced. 

 117. The Act, and the sponsoring by defendants of community schools in traditional 

public school districts that are predominantly minority, permits those minority 

students remaining in the traditional public school district to suffer less state 

funding than the state funding available to white students in traditional public 

school districts without community schools. 

 118. The acts of defendants intentionally and purposefully discriminate against two 

classes of students solely on the basis of race, and as such, violate the Equal 

Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983.     

5.   Fifth Claim 

 Violation of Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution  
(Denial of Procedural Due Process) 

 119. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 118 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference. 
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 120. The due process clause provides that certain substantive rights -- life, liberty and 

property -- cannot be deprived except pursuant to constitutionally adequate 

procedures.  Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 541 

(1985). 

 121. Ohio students have a property interest in their education.  Goss v. Lopez, 419 

U.S. 565, 573-74 (1975) (holding that Ohio statutes that provide for free public 

education for all Ohio residents between the ages of five and twenty-one and that 

dictate compulsory attendance policies indicate that Ohio residents have a right 

to education that cannot be infringed without due process).  

 122. Plaintiffs are guaranteed procedural due process under the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution when an action threatens their 

property interest in a free, thorough and efficient system of public education. 

 123. An essential principle of due process is that a deprivation of protected 

substantive rights must be accompanied by a notice and opportunity for hearing 

appropriate to the nature of the case. Id., at 542. 

 124. The Community Schools Act itself, and as implemented by defendants, diverts 

state funds from traditional public school district students in traditional public 

school districts where defendants have sponsored community schools without 

providing notice and/or an opportunity for a hearing. 
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 125. Further, by creating unfunded mandates, such as the provision that traditional 

public school districts must provide free transportation to certain community 

school students, the defendants again reduce the amount of state money 

available to the traditional public school district students. 

 126. Thus, the unfunded mandates created in the Community Schools Act and as 

implemented by defendants also deprive students of their property interest in a 

public education, without notice and/or a hearing, by diverting funds from the 

traditional public school districts which they attend in order to fund the mandates 

created by the Act. 

 127. Defendants have never provided students who remain in a traditional public 

school district in which defendants have sponsored community schools notice 

that state funds available to them for their public education would be reduced, 

and have never provided such students with a hearing on such reduction. 

 128. As the Act=s funding scheme for community schools impinges upon a traditional 

school district student=s property right in his/her education, the defendants= failure 

to provide for notice and hearing is a violation of the procedural due process 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, in 

contravention of  42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 
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 6.  Sixth Claim 

 Denial of Plaintiffs= Right to Vote, guaranteed in the Referendum Provision  
of the Ohio Constitution, as Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 
 

 129. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 128 are realleged and incorporated 

herein by reference.  

 130. The right to vote is implicit in the First Amendment and the Equal Protection 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.   Burdick 

v. Takushi, 504 U.S. 428, 434 (1992). 

 131. While the right to vote for a school board may not Aper se@ be a fundamental 

right, the Ohio Constitution raises it to the level of a Aconstitutionally protected 

right@ through the unambiguous language used in Article VI, Section 3 of the 

Ohio Constitution, which reads: 

each school district embraced wholly or in part 
within any city shall have the power by referendum 
vote to determine for itself the number or members 
and the organization of the district board of education, 
and provision shall be made by law for the exercise 
of this power by such districts. (Emphasis added). 

 
 132. Community schools are located wholly or in part within cities. 

 133. Community schools are located wholly or in part within traditional public school 

district(s).   

 134. School boards governing traditional public school districts are voted upon by the 

local electorate.  The Act, which deems community schools to be public schools, 

does not provide any similar right to vote for the community school board. 
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 135. Thus, the source of the right to vote under the facts of the present case is 

embedded in the Ohio Constitution, and the Community Schools Act interferes 

with that right as citizens of a city school district are not permitted to vote for the 

number or members, or the organization of the community school governing 

authority, a right granted to them by the Ohio Constitution.   

 136. Despite not being able to vote on the composition of the governing authority, 

proponents of community schools argue that parents of students who attend 

these schools are permitted to Avote with their feet@ as to whether the community 

school remains open.  This is not the type of voting embraced by the Ohio 

Constitution.  Plaintiffs and parents of children in community schools are denied, 

by operation of the Act, to vote on the governing authority of the community 

school. 

 137. Constitutional rights would be of little value if they could be indirectly denied.  

Harman v. Forssenius 380 U.S. 528 (1965).   

 138. Plaintiffs and those residents and/or parents who do not have children attending 

a community school are not provided a similar right to Avote with their feet,@ or to 

 vote in any other way for that matter on the governing board of a community 

 school.  The Act deprives these parents and residents of their right to vote on a                          

  community school governing board.  

139.  Voting with one=s Afeet@ is not the type of voting guaranteed by the Constitution. 
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140. The constitution does not explicitly authorize voting “with one’s feet.” 

141.  Thus, traditional public school district parents/residents and residents without 

children are not afforded any opportunity to vote, with their feet or otherwise, and 

because community school parents with children in community schools are not 

afforded an opportunity to vote in a constitutionally valid manner, the Community 

Schools Act is subject to strict judicial scrutiny.  Kramer v. Union School District, 

395 U.S. 621 (1969). 

 142. Under any scrutiny analysis, the Community Schools Act violates the First and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, in contravention of 42 

U.S.C. ' 1983 because it does not provide citizens with an opportunity to vote on 

the governing board of a community school established in public school districts 

embraced in whole or in part within a city. 

 

 V.   DEMAND FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand that this Court: 

A. Declare that the funding provision of the Community Schools Act, R.C. 3314.08, 

is unconstitutional because the Act denies Equal Protection to all public school district 

students, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 

B.        Declare that the funding provision of the Community Schools Act, R.C. 3314.08, 

unconstitutionally increases reliance on local property taxes to fund traditional public 

school districts, and thus, denies Equal Protection to traditional public school district 

 33
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students where community schools are established in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 

1983.   

C.       Declare that the funding provision of the Community Schools Act, R.C. 3314.08, 

unconstitutionally discriminates based on race and thus, denies Equal Protection to 

those minority students remaining in a traditional minority public school district where 

community schools are also established in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 

D.      Declare that the funding provision of the Community Schools Act, R.C. 3314.08, 

unconstitutionally discriminates based on race and thus, denies Equal Protection to all  

minority traditional public school district students where community schools are 

established, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 

E.      Declare that the Community Schools Act, R.C. Chapter 3314, as applied and 

implemented by the defendants, has denied plaintiffs procedural Due Process afforded 

under the United States Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983.  

F.      Declare that the Community Schools Act, R.C. Chapter 3314, as applied and 

implemented by the defendants, has denied plaintiffs the Right to Vote guaranteed 

under the Ohio Constitution, in contravention of 42 U.S.C. ' 1983. 

G.      Issue a permanent injunction barring defendants from unconstitutionally diverting 

State funds from traditional public school districts as is now permitted by R.C. 3314.08. 

H.      Issue a permanent injunction barring defendants from violating the constitutional 

rights of plaintiffs by their implementation of the Act. 

I.         Award plaintiffs costs of this action and their reasonable attorney fees, as well as 

any such other relief as it deems equitable and proper. 
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 Respectfully submitted,  
 

        
 /s/ David G. Latanick                                                

David G. Latanick, Esq. (0010376), Trial Attorney 
Robert L. Washburn, Esq. (0012004) 

 Cloppert, Latanick, Sauter & Washburn 
 225 East Broad Street 
 Columbus, Ohio 43215 
 Telephone: (614) 461-4455 
 Facsimile: (614) 621-6293 
 E-mail: dlatanick@cloppertlaw.com

     Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 
 /s/ Peter J. Rakay                                                  
 Peter J. Rakay, Esq.  (0011354) 
 Jerry A. Spicer, Esq.  (0011385) 
 Rakay, Spicer & Ledbetter 
 11 West Monument Building, Suite 307 
 Dayton, Ohio 45402 
 Telephone: (937) 228-2696 
 Facsimile: (937) 228-5248 

E-mail: snyrakspi@aol.com
 Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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